THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 82,836

THE CITY OF NORTH MIAMI, : FLORIDA, : Petitioner, : vs. : ARLENE KURTZ, :

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE THIRD DISTRICT

Case No. 92-2038

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

THOMAS M. PFLAUM Fla. Bar # 220450 Route 2, Box 838 Micanopy, FL 32667 (904) 466-0252 and PEDRO P. ECHARTE, JR. Fla. Bar # 274135 International Place, 21st Floor 100 SE 2nd Street Miami, FL 33131-2154 (305) 539-1226 and DAVID M. WOLPIN Fla. Bar # 292168 City Attorney for North Miami 776 N.E. 125th Street North Miami, FL 33161-5654 (305) 893-6511

Counsel for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Third District certified the following question:

Does Article 1, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution prohibit a municipality from requiring job applicants to refrain from using tobacco or tobacco products for one year before applying for, and as a condition for being considered for employment, even where the use of tobacco is not related to job function in the position sought by the applicant?

(Nov. 23, 1993 Certification Order).

ي. ۲۰۰۱ کې ۲۰۰۱ کې ۲۰

> Because the real issue in this case is whether the Privacy Amendment requires the public to use tax dollars to subsidize the cost of private conduct which **is** job-related, a better phrasing of the issue is:

> > Does the Florida Privacy Amendment forbid communities from taking into consideration, in making public-employment decisions, the financial and productivity costs of smoking, and so compel them to continue using public money to subsidize the costs of smoking and thus contribute to the nation's worst public-health crisis?

NOTE ON REFERENCES IN BRIEF

Citations to the Record will be identified as "R. ___ and transcript citations by date and page ("July 8, 1991 TT. ___"). Accompanying this brief is an Appendix which will be referred to as "App. Exh. ".

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE

р 1 — 1 — 1 1 — 1 — 1

> For purposes of deciding the issue on review, the following short version of the essential facts may suffice. (A full version of the facts is provided immediately thereafter.)

(The Short Version)

The community of North Miami has initiated a policy of not hiring any more smokers as public employees.¹ To achieve that goal the City requires all job applicants to certify that they have not smoked for the past year. The policy does not affect current employees or even new employees who might later begin to smoke after their employment. Thus the City's seeks only to gradually reduce the number of smokers in the public workforce by means of the natural attrition and nonreplacement of smokers.

The policy is grounded on overwhelming and undisputed empirical evidence that reducing the number of smokers in the public workforce will save tens of millions of public tax dollars which otherwise will be needlessly wasted on the self-inflicted illnesses of smokers and the cost of their high absenteeism and lower productivity. North Miami is self-insured and its taxpayers pay for <u>all</u> the medical expenses of City employees. The policy is also justified by the need for local communities to stop subsidizing and thus contributing to the most serious public health peril of our age.

1

¹The policy applies to all forms of tobacco use, including chewing tobacco, "snuff," etc. However, the phrase "tobaccousers" is awkward and smoking is by far the most common form of tobacco use, so this brief will usually refer to the affected group as "smokers."

Ms. KURTZ is a smoker and therefore ineligible for employment by the City until she stops smoking for one year. Aside from its unwillingness to employ Ms. KURTZ until she stops smoking, the City has no interest whatever in Ms. KURTZ's private behavior and has done nothing to restrict, control, limit or punish her private behavior. Ms. KURTZ even admitted that the City was not interfering with her privacy and that she had no privacy interest in the fact that she was a smoker.

, **• •**

Ms. KURTZ, represented by the ACLU which received substantial financial backing from the tobacco industry, sued to enjoin the City's policy on various federal and state constitutional grounds. After many hearings over many months, and the careful consideration of the City's voluminous evidentiary showing (Ms. KURTZ having submitted no evidence of her own), Circuit Judge Sydney Shapiro held that the City's policy was reasonable and constitutional in all respects. Judge Shapiro held (*inter alia*) that there was no such thing as a smokers' privacy right to a government job.

While affirming Judge Shapiro's rulings on all other constitutional and statutory issues, the Third District ruled that the Florida Privacy Amendment guaranteed Ms. KURTZ equal eligibility for government employment, but it did so without actually holding that tobacco use was constitutionally-protected or that Ms. KURTZ had a constitutionally-guaranteed right to a city job. Instead, the district court camouflaged its ruling as one involving the (non)issue of "informational privacy." The district court then agreed to certify the issue for Florida Supreme Court review.

2

(The Full Version)

1.96. 11

Plaintiff's lawsuit: ARLENE KURTZ's suit alleged that the challenged City regulation (App. Exh. "C") of not hiring any more smokers violated her constitutional rights under the Fourteenth Amendment and the Florida Privacy Amendment. (R.2-7).² The City by summary judgment motion and memoranda asserted that there was no State or Federal constitutional right which guaranteed a government job to tobacco users; that the relative wisdom or efficacy of its regulation was not the issue for adjudication; and that the City's regulation should be sustained because the City's policy was perfectly legitimate and rational.³

By introducing multiple volumes of empirical evidence which supported its regulation, the City demonstrated that the regulation promoted vital public objectives. (R. 179-2369, 2413-2419). The City's evidence conclusively demonstrated that workers who smoke are much more often ill and have much higher medical expenses and rates of absenteeism (irrespective of particular "job function"), and that the reduction of the number of smoking employees will substantially

²Ms. KURTZ did not ask for damages, back pay, or a court order directing the City to employ her or even to re-interview her. (R. 2-7). Ms. KURTZ's attorney so stipulated during Ms. KURTZ's deposition (R. 2371-2412) at pp. 4-5, and at the summary judgment hearing of Nov. 25, 1991.

³Ms. KURTZ's attorney acknowledged that the City's policy satisfied the "rational basis" test (July 8, 1991 TT. 7, 8, 9, 13), in that the City's objectives were legitimate and the means used were rational. July 8, 1991 TT. 6, 15; see also Kurtz Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (R. 74). Ms. KURTZ's attorney conceded that the City's policy would promote the City's legitimate objectives because smokers as a group did have higher medical costs than nonsmokers. July 8, 1991 TT. 11.

reduce the City's medical costs and improve productivity.⁴ Through its <u>undisputed</u> evidence the City also proved the following salient facts:

, ,

-- As former HEW director Dr. Lewis Sullivan once remarked, "cigarettes are the only legal product that when used as intended cause death." (New York Times, Feb. 2, 1991, at A-18). Tens of thousands of scientific studies have confirmed the cause-and-effect relationship between tobacco use and a multitude of deadly illnesses.⁵ As one former Surgeon General stated, "smoking

⁵Vogt & Schweitzer, 22 Amer. J. of Epidemiology 1060, 1066 (1985) report that 30,000-to-40,000 research studies have proven the basic empirical facts which underlie the City's policy. The accompanying Appendix contains <u>some</u> of the affidavits and other materials submitted by the City. However, space constraints prevent the City from including or even summarizing most of the evidence contained in the six volumes of exhibits which it (continued...)

⁴The City's evidence demonstrated that smoking constitutes the single greatest public health menace in the United States, and one which the Federal Government has officially urged all public See 1989 Surgeon General's 689-page institutions to combat. Report, <u>Reducing the Consequences of Smoking</u>; Covering transmittal letter to the President (Petitioner's Comp. Exh. IV, parts I and II). Only a few weeks ago eight past and present Surgeons General, from the Eisenhower through the Clinton Administrations, met in Washington to again appeal for public institutions to discourage smoking, stating that the nation "remains in tobacco's death grip." (New York Times, Jan. 12, 1994 at C-12). See Lincoln Federal Labor Union v. Northwestern Iron and Metal Co., 335 U.S. 525 (1949); Williamson v. Lee Optical Co., 348 U.S. 483 (1955), for the proposition that courts are to accept all reasonable justifications for government policies even when they are hypothetical (which in this case they are not). In a decision which has often been cited by this Court, the Supreme Court in United States v. Carolene Products Co., 304 U.S. 144, 152 (1938), held that social and economic legislation is to be upheld if any state of facts, including assumed facts, would support the legislation, and that the existence of supporting facts "is to be presumed." See, e.g., H.R.S. v. West, 378 So. 2d 1220, 1225 (Fla. 1979); Cilento v. Florida, 377 So. 2d 663, 665 (Fla. 1979); Hamilton v. Florida, 366 So. 2d 8, 11 (Fla. 1978); State v. Bales, 343 So. 2d 9 (Fla. 1977).

represents the most extensively documented cause of disease ever investigated in the history of biomedical research." Thousands of scientific studies have proved beyond contradiction that smoking is the leading **and** most avoidable cause of illness and death in our society. (<u>1990 Report of the Surgeon General</u>, "The Health Benefits of Smoking Cessation," Centers for Disease Control (1990), at page $x.)^{6}$

-- Smoking not only causes lung cancer, emphysema, and other obstructive illnesses of the lungs as well as cancer of the mouth, throat and larynx, but also coronary artery disease and heart disease (the **leading** causes of death in the United States); compared with non-smokers, smokers have twice the risk of stroke, by itself the third leading cause of death in the United States. The mortality rate from abdominal aortic aneurism is two to five times higher in smokers than in non-smokers; smoking is a major cause of peripheral artery occlusive disease, including gangrene and loss of limbs; cigarette smoking substantially increases the risk of respiratory infections such as influenza, pneumonia, and bronchitis,

⁵(...continued) submitted. (The index to the City's evidence is contained in the Appendix as Exhibit "G".)

⁵See the <u>1990 Surgeon General Report</u> ("Executive Summary") at p. x (contained in Composite Exh. IV, Parts I & II, of the City's summary judgment exhibits). The City is entitled to rely on that evidence in adopting its regulations and policies. *Renton v. Playtime Theaters*, 475 U.S. 41, 106 S.Ct. 925 (1986). See also *Grusendorf v. City of Oklahoma City*, 816 F.2d 539 (10th Cir. 1987), where the Court sustained a far more draconian "no-smokers" regulation on the basis of nothing more than the warning label which by Federal law must be printed on the side of every package of cigarettes sold in the United States.

which themselves constitute the sixth leading cause of death in the United States. Smoking also causes gastric ulcers and increases the risk of cancer of the pancreas and bladder. <u>1990 Report of the Surgeon General</u> "Executive Summary," at xi. Each of these myriad illnesses is a major cause of worker-absenteeism. The scientific evidence of the cause and effect relationship between smoking and these and myriad other illnesses and diseases (most recently even leukemia and cataracts have been added to the list) is overwhelming. Indeed, the evidence of the causal relationship between smoking and illness was even acknowledged by the Florida legislature 15 years ago. (<u>See §381.3712, Fla. Stat.</u> (1979), acknowledging smoking as a causal factor in many types of cancers).⁷

-- Although one might not realize it from reading the daily newspapers, <u>smoking actually causes more deaths than ALL crime</u>, <u>automobile accidents</u>, fires, AIDS, cocaine, heroin, alcohol and <u>suicides put together</u>. (258 J. of Amer. Med. Ass'n (JAMA) at 2080 (1987)). Smoking is now killing approximately 420,000 Americans each year, or an American death rate equal to eight, eight-year Vietnam wars every year. Thus former Surgeon General Koop rightly stated

⁷Benzene is a carcinogenic agent highly restricted by Federal law. A couple of years ago Perrier water was banned from distribution in the United States and actually pulled from store shelves because of Benzene readings of 16 parts per billion. According to the <u>1986 Surgeon General's Report</u>, cigarettes contain between 11,000 and 43,000 parts per billion of Benzene, 2,000 times more than the "dangerously polluted" Perrier water, yet are sold daily for a private profit. In fact, cigarettes contain over **43** carcinogenic chemicals according to the <u>1989 Surgeon General's Report</u>.

in his 1982 report that smoking is the "most important public health issue of our time."⁸

-- In narrow economic terms, the national cost of smokingcaused illness is 50 billion dollars; the State of Florida wastes approximately <u>two billion dollars</u> and 204,000 years of lost human life, each and every year on smoking illnesses. See <u>Smoking &</u> <u>Health, A National Status Report</u>, A Report to Congress (2d Ed. 1990), contained in Petitioner's Comp. Exh. I. In other words, if Floridians could be induced to quit smoking, the resulting savings would pay for all of the needed improvements to our schools and the entire criminal justice system, with enough left over to modernize the entire court system. Equivalent improvements to public services would accrue on the local level (police; services for youth and the elderly; housing for the homeless; treatment for the mentally ill, etc.), to the extent that local communities finally take seriously the urgent pleas of all Surgeons General since the 1960's that **government begin to implement disincentives to discourage smoking**

⁸In an average group of 100 young smokers, one will lose their life due to murder, two to automobile accidents, and 25 to the effects of smoking. (<u>The Health Consequences of Smoking: Nicotine</u> <u>Addiction</u>, 1988 Report of the Surgeon General, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services). See Shultz affidavit (App. Exh. "E") at pp. 15-16. While the Third District found unimpressive the City's immediate interest in saving millions of dollars in public tax revenues by reducing the number of smokers in its work force, it totally ignored the broader and more compelling reason for the policy, namely that public institutions must stop subsidizing and "coddling" tobacco use, especially by their own public employees, if the United States is **ever** to deal with the nation's most serious public health crisis and stop 420,000 needless American deaths every year.

rather than continuing to subsidize and coddle such suicidal behavior.

-- The direct economic costs of smoking are exceedingly high for the smoker's employer as well. According to the NADL Journal (January-February 1983), pp. 28-29, smoking costs American employers over 27 billion dollars (\$27,000,000,000) per year in extra absenteeism and health care costs. Men under 45 who smoke two packs of cigarettes a day face more than \$56,000 of additional medical costs and most of that extra cost is borne by their insurers which in this case are the people of North Miami. Oster, et al., The Economic Costs of Smoking and Benefits of Quitting, 4 (1984), at xvii. Each smoking employee costs the City taxpayers as much as \$4,500 extra per year, year-in and year-out (a fact which is proven and undisputed in this litigation). Daynard, <u>Smoke Gets in Your</u> <u>Bottom Line</u>, 5 Boston J. 3 (1985).⁸

^{*}Weis, Profits Up In Smoke, Indiana Bus. J. 18-19 (1981), summarizes various studies and concludes that \$3,195-to-\$4,500 per year was the average additional cost of employing a smoker. Weis, supra, Can You Afford to Hire Smokers?. The actual cost may be slightly higher: see Management World, Sept. 1981, pp. 39-40 (stating that each new smoking employee costs an employer \$4,789 per year in additional expenses); 60[3] Personnel J. 162-165 Mar. 3, 1981). See also Gabel, et al., Smoking Policies, 83(1) Southern After a seven-year study of the medical Med. J. 17 (1990). requirements of smokers and nonsmokers, it was found that smokers spent, on average, 17 days more in the hospital. 22(6] Am. J. of Epidemiology 1060-1066 (1985). An even more recent study by a group of hospitals, covering 10 states, found that smokers' insurance claims were 24% higher on average than for nonsmokers. Wall St. J., Mar. 6, 1990, at B1. Health and disability insurers like Blue Cross report that claims for smokers run as high as 28% more than for nonsmokers. (1989 Surgeon General's Report, at Table 17, p. 549. To the same effect, see Milliman & Robertson, Health Risks and Behavior (1987), finding that smokers are 29% more likely to have large (over \$5,000) annual insurance claims and to require (continued...)

All of these facts were established by the City and were never contradicted by Ms. KURTZ.

Accompanying the City's Motion for summary Judgment was the detailed, 30-page affidavit of Dr. James Shultz of the Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, University of Miami School of Medicine. (App. Exh. "E"). Dr. Shultz is a nationally-recognized expert in the field of behavioral epidemiology, the study of the patterns of human disease, and his research specialty is the health effects of cigarette smoking. Basing his conclusions on nearly 100 national scientific studies, Dr. Shultz stated that the additional cost to North Miami of each smoking employee is as high as \$4,611 (1981 dollars) per year. Those costs include increased absenteeism and early mortality, increased non-health insurance costs, and job time lost. Dr. Shultz also confirmed the (App. Exh. "E") scientific basis for the City's one-year cessation requirement, based on the empirical evidence regarding the addictive qualities of smoking and relapse rates over various periods of time. (Id.).

⁹(...continued) far more days of hospitalization.

After reviewing the extensive scientific literature, the Kristein study concluded that "Smokers have 33%-to-45% excessive absenteeism." Kristein, 12 Preventative Medicine 358, 366 (1983) (contained in Petitioner's Comp. Exh. I). There are other "hidden" costs of having smoking workers: Fires are accidentally set, and City automobiles and equipment damaged by surreptitious smokers. Indeed, smokers even cost more money in terms of accidental injury and related workers' compensation costs due to accidents caused by eye inflammation and hand interference. Gabel, et al., <u>Smoking Policies</u>, 83(1) Southern Med. J. at p. 9 (1990), reporting that smokers have more automobile accidents and moving violations; Lippiatt, 19 Preventive Med. 515 (1990), reports that cigarettefires annually cause 8,500 deaths and injuries and half a billion dollars in property losses.

Approximately 17% of the City of North Miami workforce now The City is fully self-insured with respect to employee smokes. medical costs and pays 100% of its workers' medical expenses from taxes in the general fund. See Lee R. Feldman depo. (App. Exh. "F") at pp. 47-50; Adele Hartstein affidavit (App. Exh. "D"). Even using the most conservative figures cited by Dr. Shultz, the City spends hundreds of thousands of extra dollars each year in additional medical costs plus lost productivity due to smoking workers. Assuming normal turnover and retirement, the City will thus unquestionably save millions of dollars if it stops hiring smoking employees.¹⁰ Those savings can now be used to pay for hot meals and medical transportation for the elderly, housing and care for the homeless, additional police protection, or other major programs. The City will save not only in medical costs: In an average group of 100 smoking employees, 25 will die from smoking: each such employee's death will be slow and agonizing, costing the City tens of thousands of dollars in direct medical, hospital and drug expenses, and each death will result in jobs remaining unperformed for months and then filled with inexperienced workers who require special training and are less efficient and productive in their labor.

¹⁰See Affidavit of Deputy City Manager Lee R. Feldman (App. Exh. "F") which contained projections of future savings to the City based on the various national studies cited in Dr. Shultz's affidavit. Mr. Feldman projected total cumulative savings to the City as high as 14 million dollars over the next 20 years. The City submitted over 50 scientific studies and reports which supported Mr. Feldman's projections.

As of 1991, 60.9% of American cities have revenues which are exceeded by expenditures, and 87.2% of those cities attributed their negative balance sheets to the rising cost of employee health benefits. (Chicago Tribune, July 9, 1991, at 11, reporting study by National League of Cities.) The rising cost of health care is now widely considered the single most compelling economic problem in the United States, and tobacco has played a dominant role in creating that crisis.¹¹

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