APR 7 1994

SID J. WHITE

FJ

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,836

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

THE CITY OF NORTH MIAMI, FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

ARLENE KURTZ,

Respondent.

On Petition For Discretionary Review Of An Order Of The Third District Court Of Appeal of Florida Case No. 92-2038

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Pamela A. Chamberlin Florida Bar Number 444006 MITRANI, RYNOR & GALLEGOS, P.A. 1440 AmeriFirst Building One Southeast Third Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305)358-0050

Counsel for Respondent

Cooperating Attorney for the A.C.L.U. Foundation of Florida, Inc.

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

VI. ARGUMENT

A. <u>The City's regulation violates the privacy guarantee of</u> <u>the Florida Constitution, in that it constitutes</u> <u>governmental intrusion into private, off-duty conduct</u> <u>unrelated to any compelling interest of the City</u>

The City's no-smoking hiring regulation constitutes governmental intrusion into the private lives of citizens for the purpose of regulating lawful, off-duty conduct unrelated to any compelling governmental interest. For citizens, such as the plaintiff, who refuse to submit to this indirect regulation, the penalty is a denial of all opportunity to seek or obtain employment in City government.

Kurtz has not asserted, as the City suggests, that she has a constitutional "right to smoke." Rather, she has a constitutionally protected right not to be subjected to the City's regulation of her private, off-duty life and lawful, off-duty conduct as a condition of seeking and obtaining the same government employment opportunities available to other citizens.

Article I, section 23, of the Florida Constitution provides, "Every natural person has the right to be let alone and free from governmental intrusion into his private life except as otherwise provided herein." This explicit constitutional right of privacy is far broader than that provided by the general due process language of the U.S. Constitution. <u>In re T.W.</u>, 551 So.2d 1186, 1192 & n.5 (Fla. 1989); <u>Shaktman v. State</u>, 553 So.2d 148, 151 n.9 (Fla. 1989); <u>Winfield v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering</u>, 477 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1985). In cases involving violations of the privacy guarantee, the government has the burden of demonstrating a "compelling state interest" justifying the intrusion, and that the "least intrusive means" have been used to accomplish that goal. <u>Shaktman</u>, 553 So.2d at 151-52; <u>In re T.W.</u>, 551 So.2d at 1192; <u>Winfield</u>, 477 So.2d at 547.

The decision whether or not to engage in the completely legal use of tobacco products in one's own home and on one's own time is a matter which should be left to the individual. Before the City is allowed to condition the right to seek employment on the relinquishment of personal autonomy by its citizens, it must demonstrate a compelling state interest justifying that action.

The City's asserted justifications for the regulation are that it will eventually will reduce insurance costs and increase productivity. As admitted by the City, however, it has engaged in no inquiry whatsoever to determine what, if any, actual impact the regulation will have on costs or productivity. None of the socalled cost-saving calculations referred to by City Manager Feldman or the City's expert were based on actual medical or productivity costs experience of the City. The affidavits of these witnesses do reveal, however, that most if not all of the costs associated with employee smoking could be eliminated by a ban on on-the-job smoking and by shifting the additional insurance costs to the smokers themselves in the form of premium increases. The City admits that it has not seen fit to take steps to thus eliminate the bulk of smoking-related costs. Given this state of the facts, as attested to by the City's own evidence, it is difficult to understand how the City could assert that it has a "compelling" interest in

realizing the minimal or marginal additional savings through its pre-hiring smoking ban.

Likewise, the City's asserted interest in increasing productivity of its workforce is shown to be less than compelling where its own expert stated that the additional cost-per-smoker as a result of excess absenteeism was only \$178 per year.⁴ Kurtz does not, however, suggest that the City should be required to tolerate any additional absenteeism on the part of certain employees simply because they are smokers. Indeed, the entire premise of Kurtz's claim is that all persons should be given the same access to government jobs, and that the same standards of productivity and performance should be applied to all. Additionally, the City's regulation could hardly serve the goal of increasing productivity where it may have the effect of removing more-qualified workers from the applicant pool simply because they are smokers.

However, even if the City's interest were deemed to be "compelling," the City has clearly not employed the "least intrusive means" of furthering that interest. As demonstrated by the City's own evidence, the vast majority of the costs and productivity losses associated with employee smoking could be avoided by imposing a ban on-the-job smoking. Such a ban would be unquestionably effective, and would not intrude into the private, off-duty lives of its citizens. As for insurance costs associated

⁴ And even this figure is not in fact based on actual data from the City.

specifically with off-duty smoking, this reduction could be achieved by limiting insurance benefits for smoking-related illnesses or by requiring that higher premiums be paid by employees with particular health risks. The City admits that it does not give smoking employees these options, which would be less intrusive than the regulation of prehiring, off-duty smoking imposed by Administrative Regulation 1-46. As for any additional absenteeism by smokers (as to which there is no evidence from the City), this cost factor is already taken care of by the City's limitation on paid sick leave available to workers.⁵

That the means chosen are not the least intrusive is obvious when it is noted that the City's regulation requires all prospective job applicants to refrain from smoking for a year, in order even to be considered for a City job. Most of those applicants will probably not ever be hired, but they are nonetheless constrained by the regulation to give up this lawful conduct in order to have even an opportunity for consideration. Clearly, the City can have no interest in precluding smoking by all of the hundreds of applicants that it will ultimately *not* hire.

In short, the City could achieve its goal by any number of approaches tailored to the actual health risks and costs presented by individual employees, without resorting to intrusive regulation

⁵ <u>See also</u> Kramer & Calder, "The Emergence of Employees' Privacy Rights: Smoking and the Workplace," 8 <u>The Labor Lawyer</u> 313 (1992); Note, "The Constitutionality of an Off-Duty Smoking Ban for Public Employees: Should the State Butt Out?" 43 <u>Vanderbilt Law Review</u> 491 (1990); Rothstein, "Refusing to Employ Smokers: Good Public Health or Bad Public Policy?" 62 <u>Notre Dame</u> Law Review 940 (1987).

of employees' private, lawful, off-duty conduct. The City has chosen, however, to use instead the <u>most</u> intrusive means available--requiring absolute abstinence for a year prior to even being considered for a City job.

The City has attempted to characterize this case as a claim by Kurtz of a "right to smoke" or a "right to a City job." This case is about neither. Rather, it is about the right to freedom from governmental intrusion into one's private, lawful activities (which in this case happen to include off-duty smoking). The City has attempted to characterize this case as a claim for special treatment for smokers. It is not. If a job applicant, who may happen to be a smoker, is unqualified, that person should not be If an employee, who may happen to be a smoker, fails to hired. perform satisfactorily or is absent, that person should be disciplined or fired. However, an individual should be considered for hiring, retention or promotion on the basis of his or her qualifications and performance on the job, and not on the basis of that individual's private, off-duty conduct.

The City raises the specter of a flood of litigation by smokers, asserting the right to smoke anywhere and anytime, if Kurtz prevails in this case. That suggestion is absurd. Kurtz has never disputed that smoking can be taken into consideration in hiring decisions where it is indeed relevant to the job functions, as in the case of firefighters, or that smoking can be prohibited on the job site or on the City's property. What *is* at issue is whether private, lawful, off-duty conduct, unrelated to job

functions, can be the basis for denial of government employment opportunities.

The more real danger presented by this case is that a decision in favor of the City would open up virtually every aspect of a person's private life to intrusive governmental regulation in the supposed interest of cost-cutting. The City's position is that, unless the private activity is one previously recognized by <u>federal</u> privacy law as a fundamental right, such as reproductive, religious and family matters, then it can be regulated by the state if it bears any conceivable relationship to an increase in governmental expenditures. Thus, under the City's analysis, it could regulate when its employees or prospective employees go to bed at night, what they eat for breakfast, what kind of cars they drive, where they take their vacations and what hobbies they engage in, all in the interest of making sure that those employees meet some ideal of health and fitness and thus cost the City less money to insure. This is the City's position, and this is the very real danger presented by this case.

That the City presumes to dictate the private lives of many hundreds of persons outside its actual or probable employee pool, suggests that the City's asserted cost justifications are merely pretexts for imposing a no-smoking value judgment on its citizens.

The City asserted that because Kurtz makes no secret of the fact that she smokes, that she has no protectible privacy interest in this particular form of conduct. The City's position mischaracterizes the purpose and scope of the constitutional

privacy guarantee. The right of privacy is not only a right of secrecy or confidentiality. The constitutional right of privacy is more basically the right "to be let alone" and extends to many areas where the individual's interest is not in secrecy but in personal autonomy. <u>See</u>, <u>Winfield</u>, 477 So.2d at 546; <u>In re T.W.</u>, 551 So.2d at 1192; <u>In re Guardianship of Browning</u>, 568 So.2d 4, 9-12 (Fla. 1990).

The City cites a number of cases involving nonconsensual procedures, which the City recognizes medical hold that "individuals have a privacy right to decide what happens to their own bodies." [City's Initial Brief at 19]. See, e.g., Public Health Trust v. Wons, 541 So.2d 96 (Fla. 1989); Satz v. Perlmutter, 379 So.2d 359 (Fla. 1980) (approving 362 So.2d 160 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978)); Corbett v. D'Alessandro, 487 So.2d 368 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); St. Mary's Hospital v. Ramsey, 465 So.2d 666 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); In re Guardianship of Barry, 445 So.2d 365 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). However, the City dismisses these cases as having "no relevance" to In fact, these cases are quite relevant, in that the this case. City, by its regulation, is attempting to enforce its model of a healthy and wholesome lifestyle by making that lifestyle a condition of seeking government employment. As the City notes, the courts have uniformly upheld the right of personal autonomy in these cases, even when balanced against strong governmental interests in protecting and preserving life. The state interests rejected in those cases as not sufficiently compelling are unquestionably nonetheless far more weighty than the City's

spurious cost-saving interest asserted in this case.

The City also dismisses as irrelevant those cases where the government has been required to prove a compelling state interest before it may obtain certain private information for use in criminal investigations or otherwise. See, e.g., Shaktman v. State, 553 So.2d 148 (Fla. 1989); Winfield v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, 477 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1985). However these cases are relevant in that they illustrate the courts' proper reluctance to permit government intrusion into the private lives of citizens, even where important governmental interests of criminal investigation are involved. That such intrusive means as penregisters, wiretaps, and access to bank records are often allowed to be employed in achieving the goal of crime-fighting does not, however, support the intrusion advocated by the City in this case. Here, Kurtz is not alleged to have engaged in any unlawful activity whatsoever. By effectively controlling her private activities and her use of her personal time and resources, however, the City is intruding into the protected realm of privacy to which Kurtz is constitutionally entitled.

The City also cites several cases which the City characterizes as "informational privacy" cases, and argues that none of these cases protect against the disclosure of personal information to the government. That may be an accurate, if over-simplified, summary of the holdings of those particular cases, but the City's argument does not address the real issues in *this* case. Here, the issue is not whether or not a person may be required to reveal certain

information as a requirement of applying for a City job. Rather, the issue is whether a person may be required to do or refrain from doing certain activities on his own time and in his own home, as a requirement of applying for a City job.

Moreover, it should be pointed out that the case <u>Florida Board</u> of <u>Bar Examiners re: Applicant</u>, 443 So.2d 71 (Fla. 1983), relied upon by the City, in fact holds that the Bar's inquiry into the applicant's history of psychological and medical treatment is only justified because this information was related to the applicant's fitness to practice law, and because the Bar has a compelling interest in ensuring that only fit individuals are admitted to practice law in this state. <u>Id.</u> at 76. In this case, by contrast, the City's regulation applies to all job applicants, regardless of whether or not smoking is related to job functions or the individual's performance. The City therefore can have no interest, compelling or otherwise, in preventing smokers from applying for or filling such positions.

While the City takes pains to point out that no previous case has held explicitly that there is any right of privacy as to tobacco use, that lack of precedent clearly does not mean that such a privacy interest is implicated by the City's regulation. This is a case of first impression, in that prior to the Third District's decision, there was no published opinion of any court, state or federal, addressing the constitutionality of a blanket no-smoking hiring policy unrelated to job functions.

The only previous case in which the constitutionality of more

limited no-smoking hiring policy was addressed is <u>Grusendorf v.</u> <u>City of Oklahoma City</u>, 816 F.2d 539 (10th Cir. 1987). In that case, a fire department's rule prohibited firefighter trainees from smoking on or off duty for one year after hiring, and required new hirees to sign an agreement to that effect as a condition of employment. <u>Id</u>. at 540. The court, however, clearly recognized that the rule infringed upon protected privacy interest, stating:

It can hardly be disputed that the Oklahoma City Fire Department's non-smoking regulation infringes upon the liberty and privacy of the firefighter trainees. The regulation reaches well beyond the work place and well beyond the hours for which they receive pay. It burdens them after their shift has ended, restricts them on weekends and vacations, in their automobiles and backyards and even, with the doors closed and the shades drawn, in the private sanctuary of their own homes.

<u>Id</u>. at 541.

While the Tenth Circuit acknowledged that the liberty and privacy interests at issue in the case of a no-smoking rule may not rise to the level of a fundamental right, the Court also emphasized that even non-fundamental rights are entitled to meaningful protection against governmental infringement. The court stated:

Nor are we inclined to accept the defendants' contention that, since cigarette smoking has not been recognized as a fundamental right, no balancing test nor rationale of any kind whatsoever is needed to justify the restriction. This reasoning would seem to suggest that the state can, arbitrarily and for no reason, condition employment upon an agreement to refrain from a nearly limitless number of innocent, private and personal activities. We would be reluctant to go this far even if the law would tolerate such a venture.

Id. at 542.

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